ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 01 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court  
The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000225

DAVID ROSE, #91858,.....RESPONDENT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND  
PARDON SERVICES,.....APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Matthew C. Buchanan  
General Counsel  
Tommy Evans, Jr.  
Assistant General Counsel

South Carolina Department of Probation,  
Parole and Pardon Services  
P.O. Box 50666  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250  
(803) 734-9220

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANT

## **

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1. Did the Administrative Law Court err in reversing the Appellant's determination that Respondent failed to prove he received a sufficient number of votes to be granted parole pursuant to the *State v. Barton* decision?**
- 2. Did the Administrative Law Court err when it issued a remedy that it may not grant?**
- 3. Did the Administrative Law Court err in deciding that the *State v. Barton* decision should be applied retroactively?**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 6, 1978, the Respondent along with his co-defendant Jack B. Oliphant approached a child near his home in Laurens County, South Carolina. Upon asking the child to show them directions to a nearby address, he was forced into a vehicle and driven to Greenville. They held him captive for eighteen hours demanding a ransom for his return. Upon hearing on the radio the authorities were actively searching for this child, the defendant's decided to release the child to a nearby rural area. Both defendants were later found, arrested and charged with the offenses of kidnapping.

On May 22, 1978, the Respondent appeared before the Honorable James Moore for the offense of kidnapping. Upon completion of this appearance the Respondent was sentenced to a term of incarceration for the remainder of his natural life.<sup>1</sup> At the time the Appellant committed this offense South Carolina law allowed an individual serving a life sentence for kidnapping parole eligibility upon the service of ten years.

The Respondent was granted parole in 1987, but failed to report for years. Finally in 1991, an arrest warrant was issued, he was then placed in absconded status. It was later discovered that he was residing in Florida. He was extradited to South Carolina and his parole was revoked on June 14, 2000. The Respondent's first appearance before the Parole Board after his revocation was on June 20, 2001, during which time the Board denied parole.

On August 30, 2004, the Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief. (R.p.273-p.279). Within this application, the Appellant made the claim that he received four votes in favor of parole based on a statement by a cousin that he received four "yes" votes. The Respondent requested a recording of the hearing, which did not list the vote count. This was a

---

<sup>1</sup>Co-Defendant Jack Oliphant was also give a life sentence for the offense of kidnapping. He was paroled on February 21, 1986, he currently remains on parole and now residing in the state of Georgia.

post-conviction relief action against his Public Defender Michael Turner and his parole attorney Alvin Neal, and did not name the Appellant Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. (R.p.277). The Attorney General responded and argued that the Circuit Court does not have jurisdiction, but jurisdiction falls upon the Administrative Law Court (ALC). On March 3, 2006, the Honorable Wyatt T. Saunders ordered the PCR be dismissed without prejudice so it can be presented before the ALC. (R.p.261-p.266). Judge Saunders ordered that if the ALC decides not to hear this case, the Respondent has the right to re-file before the Circuit Court.

The Respondent delivered a request for parole on April 17, 2006. The Appellant refused the request for parole. The Respondent then filed a notice of appeal before the ALC, on May 12, 2006. (R.p.280). On May 14, 2007, the Honorable John D. Geathers, Administrative Law Court Judge, issued an order dismissing the appeal. It was his opinion that the ALC did not have jurisdiction over this offense. (R.p.281-p.282).

On February 26, 2014, the Respondent filed a summons and complaint against the Appellant in Circuit Court. (R.p.222-p.227). The Appellant filed a motion to dismiss arguing that due to the South Carolina Supreme Court decision of *State v. Furtick*, the Circuit Court does not have jurisdiction. A hearing regarding the Appellant's motion to dismiss was held before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, on May 19, 2014. Upon the conclusion of this hearing, Judge Addy denied the Appellant's motion and ordered the Department to conduct an investigation to determine if he has received four votes at the conclusion of his 2001 hearing. (R.p.245-p.246).

During this investigation the Appellant discovered that the recording of the 2001 parole hearing had been destroyed. Even though the Respondent had a copy of this recording, the only thing produced to the Appellant was an affidavit from his cousin Carlos Bell. (R.p.268-269). Within his affidavit Mr. Bell stated that the Respondent's lawyer spoke to a Department employee in the

common area who informed him that the Respondent received four votes, who in turned informed Mr. Bell. The Appellant determined that this was not sufficient evidence and denied Respondent's request for parole. (R.p.267). Upon being notified of this denial, the Respondent filed a notice of appeal before the ALC.

Administrative Law Judge Deborah Brooks Durden reversed the Appellant's determination that the Respondent did not receive enough votes to be granted parole and ordered the matter be remanded to the Board to determine conditions for release on parole. (R.p.150-155). In her ruling, she determined that the matter of the vote count had already been litigated between the Appellant and the Respondent, that the Appellant failed to produce a scintilla of evidence refuting the Respondent's claim to have received votes, and that the decision in *Barton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services* should be applied retroactively to this matter.

The Department appeals the ALC's ruling in this matter, and intends to show that the ALC was incorrect in determining the vote count had already been resolved, and that the Supreme Court's decision in *Barton* was never intended to be applied retroactively. The Appellant's arguments follows. (R.p.148-p.149).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Administrative Procedures Act (APA) provides the appropriate standard of Review. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2012). The Court may reverse the decision of an ALC if that decision is a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; c) made upon unlawful procedure; d) affected by other error of law; e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by an abuse of discretion or clearly

unwarranted exercise of discretion. *Barton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013).

### **ARGUMENTS**

- 1. The Administrative Law Court erred in its determination that the vote count had been litigated, and that the Appellant relied upon substantial evidence that the Respondent failed to receive votes sufficient to receive parole.**

In its ruling, the Administrative Law Court (ALC) placed great emphasis on the fact that the Department did not take a position against the Respondent's position that he received a favorable vote count in his Post-Conviction Relief action (PCR) following his denial of parole in 2001. However, the ALC fails to take into account that the PCR is an action taken against his attorneys and would not have been served on the Department.<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, the Attorney General's Office, which did respond to the action, made a motion to dismiss for improper jurisdiction and to remand the case to the Administrative Law Court because it involved the routine denial of parole – a preliminary motion that does not address the substantive matters within the claim. *See Kerr v. State*, 345 S.C. 183, 547 S.E.2d 494 (2001) (addressing the threshold issue of jurisdiction before addressing the matter of parole eligibility).

By taking up the initial matter of the proper venue, the Attorney General's Office never needed to respond to the allegation that the Respondent received four votes in favor of parole. In fact, by filing a PCR matter, the Respondent only challenged the effectiveness of his attorneys. The matter of the vote count was irrelevant for the PCR because the Respondent's attorneys had nothing to do with how the Parole Board voted. *See S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-20* (Supp. 1969).

---

<sup>2</sup> The clerk shall docket the application upon its receipt and promptly bring it to the attention of the court and deliver a copy to the solicitor of the circuit in which the applicant was convicted and a copy to the Attorney General. S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-40(Supp. 2014).

All subsequent hearings and rulings for the Respondent's case involved the proper jurisdiction of Respondent's case – whether it was properly before the circuit court or the ALC. At no point did the Department concede that the Respondent received four votes. In fact, it was not until Judge Addy ordered the Department to conduct an investigation on May 19, 2014, that the matter of the vote count became an issue.

The Respondent expects the Appellant to grant a criminal offender release from incarceration based solely on hearsay testimony submitted through an affidavit submitted by his cousin Carlos Bell. According to this affidavit the Respondent's attorney spoke to an unnamed employee of the Department who informed him that the Respondent received four affirmative votes. His lawyer in turn informed all of them of the vote count, was paid by Mr. Bell, and they all left the premises. No further action was ever made by this attorney regarding this decision, no motion for reconsideration, or appeal was filed, even though he was paid for the entire process. The Respondent could have been told this vote by his attorney only to assure payment. This was the only information presented, so the Department was well within its authority to determine that the Respondent's claim is not sufficient to submit the case to the Board.

Any release on parole lies totally with the Parole Board, "no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board." S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (Supp. 2014). The only authority to sign an order of release to parole is the Parole Board. Importantly, the order authorizing parole must be *signed* by the majority of members of the Board. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (Supp. 2014). Without the signatures of the Board, the Department has no authority to order the release of an inmate to parole.

The ALC has ordered the Respondent be released on parole pursuant to the South Carolina Supreme Court decision of *Barton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 404

S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013). The South Carolina Supreme Court decided in *Barton* that requiring an inmate convicted prior to 1986 a two-thirds vote to be granted parole is in violation of ex post facto.

The Respondent has yet to prove he has received four votes. In administrative proceedings the general rule is that an Appellant for relief, or a privilege has the burden of proof and the burden of proof rest upon who files a claim with an administrative agency to establish that required conditions of eligibility have been met. *Leventis v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 340 S.C. 118, 530 S.E.2d 643 (2000). The Respondent failed to present sufficient evidence proving he has received the required votes to be granted parole. The only evidence presented to the Department is an affidavit written by his cousin, which is full of hearsay testimony. He never presented affidavits from Board members who sat on that hearing. Other inmates have done so in order to prove they have received the requisite votes to be granted parole. The Respondent never presented or sought the Department employee his lawyer supposedly spoken to, nor his sister Kathy Todd who was also supposedly present; nor has he presented an affidavit from his lawyer confirming this conversation. Inmates have included affidavits from their attorney confirming the vote count, the Respondent has failed to do so.

The recording of the hearing in question contained no final vote count. Instead, the chairman just states "David Lee Rose rejected 1 and 5."<sup>3</sup> (R.p.108). There are other instances which the chairman had announced "the inmate was rejected 4 to 2." In the present case, there was also no deliberation, nor a final vote count mentioned. It is therefore safe to assume that the Respondent was denied unanimously. (Supp. R.p. 65, lines 4-6). There was no evidence presented to the contrary, and that assumption can be as easily made, especially since he has not received any votes

---

<sup>3</sup> The 1 and 5 mentioned are the reasons for denial and not the final vote.

since 2001. (R. p. 69 lines 11-16). The Respondent is under the assumption that since he provided only a hearsay affidavit he should be automatically release on Parole. The Respondent failed to give a full faith effort to gather sufficient substantial evidence that would convince the Department to release him on parole.

As noted earlier, the Department cannot release an inmate on parole without a signed order authorizing parole from the Board. §24-21-640. It should be considered reasonable that the Department not release anyone on parole when the only evidence presented is a biased statement from the inmate's cousin. If the Board believed the Respondent failed to provide sufficient evidence to verify a ratification of a Board's previous vote that determination must be upheld. The findings of an administrative agency are presumed correct and will be set aside only if supported by substantial evidence. *Summersell v. South Carolina Department of Public Safety*, 334 S.C. 357, 513 S.E.2d 619 (1999). Substantial evidence is evidence which considering the record as a whole would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action. *Lark v. Bi-Lo*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981).

The ALC chooses to ignore the evidence that the Respondent received no votes in favor of parole and makes the claim that the Department had no evidence to refute the Respondent's biased hearsay testimony. The ALC ignored the recording's lack of deliberation, which is customarily included in a split vote. (Supp. R.p. 65 lines 4-6). The Board has not awarded the Respondent a single vote in favor of parole in the following fourteen years of hearings. (R.p.69, lines 11-16). His parole was just revoked just a year earlier; he has not received any votes since being revoked; there was no mention of the vote count or any deliberation as in other hearings occurring at that time. He absconded supervision from 1991 till 2000 a total of nine years, and was not found in

South Carolina but in the state of Florida. The Parole Board is usually inclined to deny parole upon a recent revocation. (R.p. 55, line 16 to pg. 56, line 3).

**2. The ALC issued a remedy that cannot be provided by the Courts.**

The ALC does not have the ability to reverse a decision made by the Parole Board, nor can it require the Board to release someone on parole. An administrative law judge shall not hear an appeal from an inmate in the custody of the Department of Corrections involving the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600 (Supp. 2014). Because the ALC ordered that the Board convene a hearing pursuant to *Barton* for the sole purpose to imposing conditions of parole, the ALC made itself the determining body regarding parole. That responsibility was never given to the courts. Parole eligibility is not a matter within the jurisdiction of the trial court, but falls within the province of the Board of Probation, Parole and Pardons. *Brown v. State*, 306 S.C. 381, 412 S.E.2d 399 (1991). Section 24-21-640 specifically provides for the Board to consider the complete record of a prisoner and delegates to the Board the responsibility of determining if and when a prisoner meets the prerequisites of parole eligibility. *State v. McKay*, 300 S.C. 113, 386 S.E.2d 623 (1989).

The Respondent seems of the opinion that a *Barton* hearing is just a rubber stamp of the Parole Board. That is untrue. A decision of the Department pursuant to *Barton* is three fold. First, the office of Board Support Services will conduct an investigation to verify if the prisoner has possibly received the proper number of votes; second, the Office of Legal Services will verify if it qualifies under *Barton*; and, third, the Board holds a hearing during a full board day. The Respondent failed to get through the first stage due to his lack of reliable information proving he received the required number of votes to be granted parole. This denial of parole was proper and not subject to remand, and the ALC does not have the authority to reverse.

### **3. The two-thirds rule announced in *Barton* does not apply retroactively.**

The ALC conducted a collateral review of the denial of the Respondent's parole in 2001. It erroneously ruled that *Barton* should be applied retroactively because it was an ex post facto analysis and that "ex post facto claims are non-collateral matters." (Citing *Steele v. Benjamin*, 362 S.C. 66, 71, 606 S.E.2d 499 (Ct. App. 2004). The ALC erroneously equates the ex-post facto analysis in *Barton*, which analyzed the two-thirds vote requirements for violent offenses, with the present question of whether *Barton* was intended to be applied retroactively.

Specifically, the *Barton* court did not state that its interpretation of the two-thirds rule set forth in section 24-21-645(A) should apply retroactively to cases on collateral review. "The question of whether a decision announcing a new rule should be given prospective or retroactive effect should be addressed at the time of the decision." *Talley v. State*, 371 S.C. 535, 640 S.E.2d 878 (2007)(citing, *Teague v. Lane*, 489 U.S. 288, 300 (1989). That the *Barton* court was silent to this issue implies that it did not intend for its ruling to apply retroactively, but only in future hearings. In fact, the law does not support *Barton*'s retroactive effect. In *Talley*, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Teague* that new procedural rules should not apply retroactively except criminal law-making power to penalize. *Talley*, at 543. This exception cannot apply to this case. The second exception occurs when a new rule amounts to a "watershed rule" of procedure. *Id.*, at 543. A "watershed rule" is a new rule requiring that procedures implicit in the concept of ordered liberty to be observed during a hearing – a rule that "implicate[s] the fundamental fairness and accuracy of the proceeding." *Id.* The *Barton* ruling did not announce such a rule. In the context of post-conviction administrative parole hearings, inmates only have a protected right to the hearing, not to parole itself. *Furtick v. S.C. Department of*

*Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 352 S.C. 594, 576 S.E.2d 146 (2003). Inmates are due minimum due process which is provided by notice and hearing.<sup>4</sup> *Id.*, at 598. The *Barton* court plainly stated that §24-21-645(A) was ambiguous and subject to more than one interpretation. *Barton*, at 416. The Court did not find that the minimum due process an inmate must receive also includes a protected right to a *particular interpretation* of §24-21-645(A), only the Department (and the South Carolina Administrative Law Court) had wrongly interpreted the statute. Here the Respondent received sufficient due process because he was notified of the hearing where he appeared with counsel. The *Barton* ruling does not apply retroactively to his case.

A further policy argument must be made in favor of applying *Barton* prospectively only. The Parole Board and the Department historically did not record the vote counts of inmates who did not receive enough votes to be granted parole. The only time the votes were memorialized was in the actual order authorizing parole, which was required by statute. “The board shall issue an order authorizing the parole which must be signed by at least a majority of its members with terms and conditions, if any, but at least two-thirds of the members of the board must sign orders authorizing parole for persons convicted of a violent crime...” §24-21-640. Nowhere in the statute is it stated that the vote count must be recorded and preserved, and it cannot be expected that the Department should have had the prescience to predict the ruling of *Barton*.

Respondent’s claim that he received four votes in favor of parole is baseless hearsay from a biased source. To hold that *Barton* is retroactive invites more claims from family members and friends who claim to recall hearing in the distant past that a particular inmate has received enough votes for parole. Without records to refute those claims, potentially every inmate who has had a

---