THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

JUN 03 2016

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 15-ALC-15-0033-AP
Appellate Case No. 2016-000225

David Rose, #91858, Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and
Pardon Services, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF
RESPONDENT DAVID ROSE

Travis Dayhuff, Esquire
Susannah Knox, Esquire
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP
1320 Main Street, 17th Floor
P.O. Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

Attorneys for Respondent Rose

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ALC'S DETERMINATION THAT ROSE RECEIVED FOUR VOTES FOR PAROLE IN 2001 SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

A. The ALC's determination is supported by substantial evidence

When reviewing a decision of the ALC, the Court “may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the [ALC] as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.” *Barton*, 404 S.C. at 401, 745 S.E.2d at 113 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)). “In determining whether the ALC's decision was supported by substantial evidence, this Court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the ALC reached.” *Id.*; *Al-Shabazz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 380, 527 S.E.2d 742, 756 (2000); *ESA, Servs. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 392 S.C. 11, 24, 707 S.E.2d 431, 438 (Ct. App. 2011).

DPPPS makes the following arguments in support of reversing the ALC's determination that Rose received four votes at his 2001 hearing: (1) the ALC placed “great emphasis” on DPPPS's prior failure to dispute Rose's position that he received four votes; (2) Bell's sworn testimony is unreliable hearsay; (3) Rose did not make a “full faith effort” to provide evidence

that he received four votes; and (4) because the recording from the 2001 hearing does not contain a vote count and the parole board is “usually inclined” to deny after a parole revocation, it is “safe to assume” Rose did not get four votes. DPPPS Br. 4-8.

DPPPS’s arguments are flawed for many reasons, but the most fundamental flaw is that all of these arguments fail to address the applicable standard of review. The ALC’s determination that Rose received four votes should not be reversed if there is substantial evidence in the record that would allow “reasonable minds” to reach the ALC’s conclusion that Rose received four votes.

DPPPS compiled the evidence we have in the record regarding Rose’s 2001 vote total pursuant to an investigation ordered by the Circuit Court. Because of DPPPS’s abject failure to make and keep even the most basic written records of parole hearings, there was admittedly not much evidence to compile.

The record contains sworn testimony from Carlos Bell who stated that Rose received four votes at the 2001 hearing. R. at 268. Bell’s affidavit corroborated testimony Rose had offered in the previous legal actions he filed against DPPPS over the past 14 years. R. at 119 & 264. The record also reveals that Rose consistently asserted in his legal actions against DPPPS that he had received four votes, and DPPPS never disputed this factual assertion. R. at 271.

On the other hand, there is *no evidence in the record* that Rose received three, two, one, or zero votes in 2001. *Supra Stmt. of Facts* at 6-8. As the ALC correctly determined after reviewing the record, “there is not even a scintilla of evidence supporting the Department’s decision.” R. at 153.

On this record, it is abundantly clear that the ALC's determination that Rose received four votes is supported by substantial evidence. On this record, it is abundantly clear that a reasonable mind could reach the conclusion the ALC reached on Rose's vote count. Because DPPPS's arguments do not apply the substantial evidence rule, much less establish that the ALC's determination is not supported by substantial evidence, these arguments should be rejected, and the Court should affirm the ALC's factual determination that Rose received four votes for parole at his 2001 hearing.

B. DPPPS's arguments fail for additional reasons

1. The ALC's consideration of DPPPS's failure to contest Rose's position on the 2001 vote count was appropriate

DPPPS claims that the ALC's determination that Rose received four votes should be reversed because the ALC placed "great emphasis" on DPPPS's failure in previous litigation to dispute Rose's position that he received four votes in 2001. DPPPS Br. at 4-5. DPPPS does not fairly characterize the ALC's consideration of this evidence. As described above, the primary basis for the ALC's decision was the utter lack of any evidence in the record supporting DPPPS's decision. In addition, the ALC noted DPPPS's prior failure to challenge Rose's position that he had received four votes. Contrary to DPPPS's characterization, the ALC acknowledged that DPPPS's failure to challenge Rose's position is "not direct proof of the veracity of Rose's position," and appropriately found that the failure to challenge Rose's position "creates an inference that those facts were accurate." R. at 152.

DPPPS argues that it never expressly conceded that Rose received four votes; however, DPPPS does not – and cannot – dispute that DPPPS never contested Rose's assertion that he received four votes during the previous litigation. R. at 271 (DPPPS asserting that Rose needed

five, not four, votes to obtain parole in 2001, but not challenging Rose's assertion that he received four votes). The Court should reject DPPPS's argument that the ALC's decision should be overturned merely because it appropriately considered DPPPS's failure to contradict Rose's position that he had received four votes over the course of 15 years.

2. The ALC's consideration of the Bell affidavit was appropriate

DPPPS claims that Bell's sworn testimony is unreliable hearsay. DPPPS Br. at 5. A statement made by a party opponent is "not hearsay." S.C. R. Evid. 801(d)(2). Rose testified in Circuit Court and Bell testified in an affidavit that after the 2001 parole hearing a female DPPPS employee told Rose, Bell, and Rose's counsel that four members of the Parole Board voted in favor of parole and two voted against parole. *Supra* Stmnt. of Facts at 2. As the DPPPS employee's statement is an admission by a party opponent, it is not hearsay. Even if this testimony were hearsay, which is denied, this evidence was still properly considered by the ALC because this evidence is in the record, and it was considered during DPPPS's investigation and decision making regarding Rose's vote count.

In a related argument, DPPPS offers that after the 2001 hearing Rose's counsel *may have* misrepresented the vote count to Rose and the others present "only to assure payment." DPPPS Br. at 5. Simply put, speculation unsupported by the record is not a basis for reversing the ALC.

3. DPPPS's claim that Rose did not work hard enough to provide DPPPS evidence of the vote count is absurd

DPPPS's claim that Rose did not "give a full faith effort" to gather evidence on the issue of the vote count is particularly galling as Rose has been litigating this issue with DPPPS, often *pro se*, for most of the last 15 years, and DPPPS's failure to make, much less to preserve, even the most rudimentary records of the vote counts at parole hearings violated the

parole statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-40 (“The Board shall keep a complete record⁴ of all its proceedings and hold it subject to the order of the Governor or the General Assembly.”); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-220 (including “maintaining the board’s official records, and performing other administrative duties relating to the board’s activities” as a duty of the Director of DPPPS).

Moreover, over the years DPPPS has been repeatedly advised by the Attorney General that its failure to keep written records of parole hearings violates the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”). *In the matter of the Honorable Glenn F. McConnell*, 2001 W.L. 790250, *4 (Op. Att’y Gen. 2001) (“In short, [FOIA] requires the votes of individual members of the Parole Board to be public information.”); *In the matter of Frank B. Sanders*, 1985 W.L. 259229, *1-2 (Op. Att’y Gen. 1985) (holding that a Parole Board is a public body and that “[a]ll public bodies shall keep written minutes of all their public meetings” including “a record . . . of any votes taken”); *In the matter of John E. James, III*, 2012 WL 5266016, *1 (Op. Att’y Gen. 2012) (noting that FOIA should be narrowly construed to ensure public access, including a record of individual votes by the members of a public body). DPPPS’s attempt to place the burden of its unlawful failure to keep records on Rose should be rejected, and the ALC’s decision upheld.

4. Assuming that Rose did not receive four votes is not appropriate

DPPPS claims that it is “safe to assume” Rose did not receive four votes because the vote count was not announced on the recording of the hearing and because the Parole Board is “usually inclined to deny parole upon a recent revocation.” DPPPS Br. at 6-8. This claim

⁴ DPPPS acknowledged that a complete record of a parole hearing would include, among other things, a tally of the votes cast and identification of the members who voted for and against the request for parole. Supp. R. at 3, LL. 10-17] (the record should contain “[j]ust essentially the board member and what he or she voted”).

should be rejected because illogical and unjustified “assumptions” are not appropriate grounds for reversal of the ALC’s factual finding that Rose received four votes.

C. Alternative sustaining grounds support the ALC’s decision

1. DPPPS’s decision was arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion

An arbitrary and capricious agency decision “is without rational basis, is based only on one’s will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or principles.” *Trimmier v. S.C. Dep’t of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 405 S.C. 239, 246, 746 S.E.2d 491, 495 (Ct. App. 2013)(quoting *Deese v. S.C. State Bd. of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 184-85, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct. App. 1985)). An agency decision is an abuse of discretion when the decision is based upon a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. *Trident Med. Ctr. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 412 S.C. 341, 348, 772 S.E.2d 177, 181 (Ct. App. 2015).

It is undisputed that Director Patton had no records, affidavits, or other evidence that supported the notion that Rose received three, two, one, or zero votes at the 2001 hearing. It is also undisputed that Director Patton had evidence that Rose received four votes. Simply put, when DPPPS reached the conclusion that Rose did not receive four votes when the only evidence in the record established otherwise, DPPPS abused its discretion.

DPPPS based its decision that Rose did not receive enough votes in 2001, in part, upon Rose’s failure to present DPPPS with records showing the 2001 vote tally. R. at 267 (“Without any other evidence of the vote count from your June 20, 2001, hearing, the Department, cannot release you to parole.”). It should go without saying that it is arbitrary, capricious – not to mention inequitable – to penalize Rose for not having written records showing the 2001

vote tally when it was DPPPS that failed to make and keep these records in contravention of the parole statute and FOIA.

The only evidence DPPPS claimed in support of its decision was an entry on a DPPPS hearing ledger noting that Rose's 2001 request for parole was rejected. As DPPPS now correctly acknowledges, this entry provides no probative evidence regarding the number of votes received, and DPPPS relying upon this entry for the February 13th decision is, therefore, arbitrary and capricious.

DPPPS's decision that Rose did not receive four votes was both arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion. For these additional reasons, the ALC's decision should be affirmed.

2. DPPPS's decision violated constitutional and statutory provisions

Rose should receive parole if a majority of the Parole Board members present at a hearing vote in favor of parole. S.C. Code Ann. § 55-613 (1962) (approval by a majority results in parole); *Barton*, 404 S.C. at 419, 745 S.E.2d at 123 (members not present and voting at the hearing are not counted when determining whether an inmate receives the required quantum of votes).

DPPPS's decision denied Rose parole when *the only evidence in the record* is that Rose received four of six votes, a majority, at the 2001 hearing. Denying Rose parole when he received a majority of votes in favor of parole violates section 55-613 of the parole statute.

An agency decision that arbitrarily denies a person life, liberty, or property violates the substantive due process clause. *Dunes W. Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 401 S.C. 280, 300, 737 S.E.2d 601, 611 (2013). "It is axiomatic that any period of incarceration

implicates a sufficient liberty interest to trigger due process requirements.” *Steele v. Benjamin*, 362 S.C. 66, 72, 606 S.E.2d 499, 503 (Ct. App. 2004).

DPPPS’s decision that Rose did not receive enough votes at his 2001 parole hearing to be granted parole under *Barton* infringes upon Rose’s liberty interest. As this agency decision is arbitrary and capricious and is contrary to the evidence in the record this decision violates Rose’s substantive due process rights.

DPPPS’s decision that Rose did not receive four votes for parole violated both the parole statute and substantive due process. For these additional reasons, the ALC’s decision should be affirmed.

II. THE ALC HAD THE AUTHORITY TO REVERSE THE DPPPS DECISION AND GRANT ROSE RELIEF

DPPPS argues that the ALC’s decision should be reversed because the ALC “made itself the determining body regarding parole” thereby usurping the authority given the Parole Board by the General Assembly. DPPPS Br. at 8. DPPPS’s argument should be rejected as it mischaracterizes the ALC’s decision.

The ALC did not review Rose’s record while in prison and determine whether he should receive parole. That determination, most assuredly, is one for the Parole Board. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640. The ALC also did not review and reverse a routine denial of parole by the Parole Board, as such a ruling would be contrary to the well-established law that parole is a privilege, not a right. *Cooper v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole and Pardon Servs.*, 377 S.C. 489, 496, 661 S.E.2d 106, 110 (2008).

What the ALC did was to review the DPPPS determination – made by Director Patton pursuant to DPPPS’s “Barton Hearing” policy – that Rose did not receive enough votes at his

2001 hearing to receive parole. The ALC reversed DPPPS's decision because it is not supported by *any evidence*, much less substantial evidence. R. at 154-155 ("Because the Department must provide at least some support for its factual findings, the Court concludes that the Department's decision must be reversed.").

Next the Court remanded Rose's matter to DPPPS and the Parole Board so that Rose can proceed to step two in the parole process where Rose would receive parole conditions, if any, and would receive an order of parole pursuant to DPPPS's Barton Hearing policy. R. at 153-155 & Rose Br. at 15. In short, the ALC ordered DPPPS to follow its own policy. The ALC's authority in this regard cannot seriously be questioned. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5); *Barton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole, and Pardon Servs.*, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013); *Jernigan v. State*, 340 S.C. 256, 531 S.E.2d 507 (2000).

As the ALC noted, the ALC did not grant or deny parole, but instead required the Parole Board to "carry out the result of a vote the Board already made." R. at 154. This is exactly what the Supreme Court did in the *Barton* case. *Barton*, 404 S.C. at 419, 745 S.E.2d at 123 ("Appellant received the requisite number of votes from the Parole Board, and thus, should be granted parole. Thus, we remand for proceedings consistent with this opinion."). Just as the Supreme Court did not usurp the Board's authority to "grant" parole in *Barton*, the ALC has not done so here.

III. THE ALC PROPERLY APPLIED BARTON TO THE CASE

DPPPS claims that Rose's appeal fails because the *Barton* case's "two-thirds rule" does not apply "retroactively" to Rose. DPPPS Br. at 9-10. Though it is far from clear, DPPPS appears to be using "two-thirds rule" to refer to the Supreme Court's holding in *Barton* correcting the way DPPPS calculated whether an inmate had achieved a two-thirds majority (or

a simple majority) vote for parole. The *Barton* case made clear that DPPPS violated the Parole Statute when it calculated these percentages without regard to the number of Parole Board members actually present and voting at the hearing. *Barton*, 404 S.C. at 414-19, 745 S.E.2d at 120-23.

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